NO. 43432-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JUAN CARLOS PARRA-INTERIAN,

Appellant.

---

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

The Honorable Michael H. Evans, Judge

---

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

---

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI  
Attorney for Appellant

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI  
Attorney at Law  
P.O. Box 761  
Manchester, WA 98353  
(360) 876-2736

##

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to sever the counts for trial.

2. Unmitigated prejudice from joinder of offenses denied appellant a fair trial.

3. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove second degree rape.

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

1. Appellant was charged with rape and burglary committed in June 2010 and solicitation and conspiracy to commit murder in December 2011. Against repeated defense objections, the court consolidated the charges for trial. Where the State's evidence as to the initial charges was weak, the defenses to the charges differed, the evidence was not cross admissible, and the testimony would not have been duplicated in separate trials, did unmitigated prejudice from joinder deny appellant a fair trial?

2. The State charged appellant with second degree rape, alleging the victim was physically helpless because she was not fully awake when the intercourse occurred. Where the evidence showed that the victim was awakened by touching of her thighs, was aware of what was happening, and was able to object before the touching progressed to

intercourse, must appellant's conviction be reversed for insufficient evidence?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

On June 16, 2010, the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Juan Carlos Parra-Interian with second degree rape and first degree burglary. CP (10-1-00557-6) 1-2; RCW 9A.44.050(1)(b); RCW 9A.52.020(1)(b). The information was amended, alleging that the rape involved an invasion of the victim's privacy and the burglary was committed with sexual motivation. CP (10-1-00557-6) 51-52.

On December 18, 2011, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor charged Parra-Interian with solicitation to commit first degree murder and conspiracy to commit first degree murder. CP (11-1-01263-5) 1-2; RCW 9A.28.030; RCW 9A.28.040; RCW 9A.32.030. The State sought consolidation of the charges for trial, and Parra-Interian filed written motions opposing joinder and seeking severance. CP (10-1-00557-6) 22, 23-33; CP (11-1-01263-5) 3-4. The court granted the State's motion, and the case proceeded to a consolidated jury trial before the Honorable Michael Evans.

The jury returned guilty verdicts and special verdicts finding the aggravating factors had been proven. CP (10-1-00557-6) 148-51; CP (11-

1-01263-5) 25-26. Parra-Interian filed a motion for arrest of judgment and dismissal of the rape and burglary convictions. CP (10-1-00557-6) 152-54. The court denied the motion and proceeded with sentencing. It imposed concurrent standard range sentences of 159 months to life on the rape convictions and 91 months to life on the burglary, which included a 24-month enhancement based on the jury's finding of sexual motivation. CP (10-1-00557-6) 161-77. The court imposed consecutive sentences of 280.5 months on the solicitation charge and 240 months on the conspiracy charge, to be served concurrently with the rape and burglary sentences, but consecutive to the 24-month enhancement. CP (11-1-01263-5) 29-41.

Parra-Interian filed timely notices of appeal in both cases. CP (10-1-00557-6) 178; CP (11-1-01263-5) 49. This Court consolidated the cases on appeal.

2. Substantive Facts

a. The rape and burglary charges

On June 12, 2010, SA and her boyfriend Christopher McGowan had a graduation party at their home for McGowan's foster brother. SA's sister, Ashley Kruis, attended the party and spent the night afterwards, as

did McGowan's other brother, Andrew Fleming-Davis. 2(A)RP<sup>1</sup> 233-34. Everyone at the party had been drinking except SA. 2(A)RP 235.

SA and McGowan went to bed around 2:30 a.m. They had sex first and then went to sleep. 2(A)RP 236. During the night their two-year-old son began to cry, so McGowan brought him into bed with them. 2(A)RP 237.

Sometime later, SA was awakened when she felt someone touching her inner thighs. 2(B)RP 274. She was still groggy and partially asleep, but she was aware of what was happening. 2(A)RP 240, 274-79. She assumed it was McGowan, and she did not object. 2(A)RP 242. The touching continued for about 20 minutes, eventually progressing to digital penetration. 2(B)RP 276, 290. She continued to believe it was McGowan, so she was still "okay with it." 2(B)RP 276, 278. SA started becoming uncomfortable when the person stopped touching her to turn off the television. 2(A)RP 242-43. The man got back into bed, and SA felt his penis on the back of her thighs. 2(A)RP 243-44. When she felt him remove the birth control patch from her lower back, she became fully awake and alert, and she knew it was not McGowan. 2(A)RP 244-45. SA

---

<sup>1</sup> The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is contained in 14 volumes, designated as follows: 1RP—1/5/12, 1/13/12, 3/9/12; 2(A)RP—3/12/12; 2(B)RP—3/12/12; 3(A)RP 3/13/12; 3(B)RP 3/13/12; 4(A)RP—3/14/12; 4(B)RP—3/14/12; 5RP—3/15/12; 6RP—3/16/12; 7(A)RP—3/19/12; 7(B)RP—3/19/12; 8RP—3/20/12, 4/6/12, 5/11/12; 9(A)RP—3/9/12; 9(B)RP—3/9/12, 3/12/12, 3/15/12.



curled up to the head of the bed and tried to wake McGowan, and the man left the room. 2(A)RP 246.

SA never saw the person who touched her and could not describe him, despite the fact that the television was on, partially illuminating the small room. 2(A)RP 246; 2(B)RP 273. She assumed at first that it was Fleming-Davis, because he was the only other man in the house, and she told McGowan that his brother had tried to rape her. 2(A)RP 247; 3(A)RP 422. McGowan left the room to confront Fleming-Davis, and he saw Juan Carlos Parra-Interian in the hallway. 3(A)RP 423-24.

Parra-Interian was a friend of SA's family, and McGowan knew him well. 3(A)RP 356, 371, 402. Parra-Interian told McGowan that he had seen Fleming-Davis leave the bedroom. 3(A)RP 425. Fleming-Davis was asleep in the living room at that point, and McGowan shook him and told him he needed to answer some questions. 3(A)RP 326. Parra-Interian stood behind McGowan and backed him up. 3(A)RP 427, 453. As McGowan and Parra-Interian confronted Fleming-Davis, SA ran out of the house and across the street to her parents' house. 2(A)RP 249.

SA told her parents she had been attacked. 2(A)RP 253. Her father immediately went across the street to SA's house. 3(A)RP 378. He saw McGowan yelling at Parra-Interian and told Parra-Interian to leave.

3(A)RP 479. Parra-Interian went out the front door to his truck and drove away. 3(A)RP 479.

SA told her mother that Parra-Interian had tried to rape her. 3(A)RP 376. Her mother called 911 and reported what SA said. 3(A)RP 376; 4(A)RP 643-46. Police responded and interviewed SA, McGowan, and Kruis.

Kruis had been asleep on the couch when Parra-Interian leaned over her and asked where SA and McGowan were. 3(A)RP 358. Kruis testified she could hear Fleming-Davis snoring at that time. She pointed to SA's room and went back to sleep. She did not see what Parra-Interian did after that. 3(A)RP 359. The next thing she was aware of was McGowan yelling at Fleming-Davis. Parra-Interian was still in the room. 3(A)RP 360.

According to McGowan, when he saw both Fleming-Davis and Parra-Interian in the house, he was confused, and he asked SA how he could determine who had touched her. She suggested that he smell their hands. 3(A)RP 427-28. He smelled nothing unusual on Fleming-Davis's hands. 3(A)RP 428-29. McGowan testified that he then turned to Parra-Interian, but Parra-Interian had walked outside. When McGowan followed him and asked to smell his hands, Parra-Interian said he had to leave. 3(A)RP 430.

Police contacted Parra-Interian at his apartment complex. Parra-Interian was extremely intoxicated, but he agreed to accompany them to the police station. 3(A)RP 483-86. He was placed in an interview room, where he remained for several hours. 3(A)RP 487-87. After he left, police found a birth control patch, of the same brand SA said she used, on the floor of the interview room near where Parra-Interian had been sitting. 2(B)RP 323; 3(A)RP 489. The patch was later determined to have SA's DNA on it, as well as Parra-Interian's. 3(B)RP 565-66.

Parra-Interian was arrested, and a warrant was obtained to collect swabs from his hands. 3(A)RP 388-90. Analysis showed DNA from at least two people was present on the swab from Parra-Interian's left hand, and Parra-Interian and McGowan were both possible contributors. 3(B)RP 578. The State's expert testified it was likely McGowan's DNA came from sperm present in the swab. 3(B)RP 584. SA's DNA was not found on the swabs from Parra-Interian's hands. 3(B)RP 594.

The defense presented evidence that Parra-Interian and his wife, Yolanda Ayala, worked for the drug task force. Detective Watson testified that on June 11, 2010, he was meeting with Parra-Interian and Ayala in a restaurant parking lot when another couple parked next to them, waiting to speak to Parra-Interian and Ayala. 4(B)RP 802-03. Watson left the area so they could speak. When he returned, Parra-Interian identified

the man as McGowan and said that McGowan had invited him to a party at McGowan's house the next day. Parra-Interian told Watson he planned to go to the party. 4(B)RP 804-06. Parra-Interian confirmed this testimony, explaining that as a task force informant, he was required to keep detectives apprised of his activities. 5RP 1041-45, 1063.

Parra-Interian testified that he spent the evening of June 12, 2010, with his wife at a casino, and he became highly intoxicated. 5RP 1045-46. When they left the casino, his wife was tired, so she went home, but Parra-Interian decided he wanted to go to McGowan's party. 5RP 1046. He tried calling first, but he received no answer, and he headed to McGowan's house around 3:00 a.m. 5RP 1049-50. When Parra-Interian arrived, the lights were on and the door was open, so he entered the house. 5RP 1050. He saw Ashley Kruis asleep on one of the couches, woke her up, and asked where SA and McGowan were. She pointed toward the bedroom. 5RP 1050-51.

At that point Parra-Interian saw someone he had never seen before come out of the other room, wiping his hands on his pants as he walked. The man walked to the empty couch in the room and lay down. 5RP 1051-52. Parra-Interian then heard SA shouting from the other room that someone had raped her, and McGowan came out of the room. 5RP 1052. He walked over to the man on the couch, and he seemed upset. Parra-

Interian approached and tried to help McGowan, grabbing the man's hand. Parra-Interian testified that the man's hand felt slippery and sticky. 5RP 1053-54. SA's father then walked in the house and told Parra-Interian to leave. 5RP 1054-55.

b. The solicitation and conspiracy charges

On November 28, 2011, Ron White, an inmate at the Cowlitz County Jail, told a corrections officer that fellow inmate Parra-Interian approached him to solicit a murder for hire. 4(A)RP 649, 658. That information was passed along to the prosecutor's office and the Kelso Police, and an investigation was begun. 4(A)RP 651. A detective met with White at the jail and arranged for him to wear a body wire to record a conversation with Parra-Interian. 4(A)RP 659-60. White then returned to his unit at the jail, and two detectives observed him speak with Parra-Interian while listening to the transmitted conversation. 4(A)RP 664-65.

During the conversation, White asked the name of the woman Parra-Interian wanted him to "take out." He also told Parra-Interian that when he brought this woman to his car, he would shoot her twice, and "she's dead." 5RP 939. White told Parra-Interian he would "take your snitch out," then head to Oregon. 5RP 941. White asked if she would walk outside with him, and Parra-Interian said he was pretty sure she would. 5RP 945.

On December 5, 2011, White was released from jail. 4(A)RP 668. He met with detectives and again agreed to wear a body wire. While he was at the police station, White received a call from a woman who said she was going to get money and a gun and meet with him later. 4(A)RP 674. Detectives attached the body wire and drove White to the area near the arranged meeting location. 4(A)RP 675, 679. Officers listened as White met with a woman, identified as Yolanda Ayala. 4(A)RP 682, 713.

During the meeting, Ayala showed White a photograph. 5RP 963. White told her he needed \$2500. He said he planned to have SA come to the car and put two rounds in her, but he would not do anything until he had the money. 5RP 964-67. Ayala said she did not know what White was planning to do; she just knew SA was going on vacation. 5RP 968. White asked who would be at the house, and Ayala listed SA's family members. She told White to introduce himself as a cop, get her in the car, and take her somewhere else. 5RP 969.

Police followed Ayala as she left the meeting with White, and she was arrested after officers stopped her vehicle. 4(A)RP 714, 716. She had three cell phones in her car when she was arrested, and those were taken into evidence. 4(A)RP 717. One of the phones had a photograph of SA on it. 5RP 913. Police also searched her apartment and seized a document with SA's name on it from the bedroom, \$7500 from one location in the

apartment and \$1100 from another location, and a letter in Spanish from Parra-Interian to his wife. 4(A)RP 729, 731, 733-34; 4(B)RP 787. In the letter, Parra-Interian gave Ayala instructions for her meeting with White. 4(B)RP 792-93.

White testified that he was convicted of second degree theft in 2007, defrauding by check in 2008, third degree theft in 2009, and three counts of second degree theft and making false statements in 2010. 4(B)RP 840. In November and December 2011 he was in the Cowlitz County Jail on charges of felony harassment and intimidating a witness. Id.

White testified that a newspaper article about his case was published while he was in jail. The article identified him as a member of a white supremacist group and indicated he had been accused of threatening a police officer, and White said the article was a topic of discussion among his fellow inmates. 4(B)RP 842-43. According to White, after the article was published, Parra-Interian approached him and offered him \$10,000 to make the witness against him disappear, saying he wanted her dead. 4(B)RP 844, 846. White claimed that Parra-Interian told him that he had previously tried to get rid of the witness by having someone burn down her garage and that he was going to have another person take care of her, but that person had been arrested. 4(B)RP 847-48.

White further testified that he asked Parra-Interian how he wanted the witness to disappear, and Parra-Interian said he did not care, then he made a hand gesture, implying a gun. 4(B)RP 850; 5RP 1088. When White asked what he should do if her child was there, Parra-Interian told him to “do it.” 4(B)RP 850. White again asked what he should do if SA’s child was present when he shot her, and Parra-Interian said, “That too.” 4(B)RP 851.

According to White, the agreement was that Parra-Interian’s people would give him \$2500 up front and the rest when the job was done. They would also provide a weapon and pictures of the intended victim. 4(B)RP 850.

White told Parra-Interian he had a stolen police vest. He planned to go up to the witness and identify himself as police, lead her to his car, and shoot her twice. 4(B)RP 855. White told Parra-Interian he was going to Oregon as soon as it was done, and he kept saying he needed the money. 4(B)RP 856. When White met with Ayala, she showed him pictures of the intended victim on a cell phone, but she did not give him either money or a firearm. 4(B)RP 862.

Parra-Interian testified that he speaks some English, but he needs an interpreter to understand every word. 5RP 1035. He had an interpreter throughout the trial. He did not have an interpreter during his



conversations with White, however, and he did not understand everything White said. 6RP 1124-25. Parra-Interian testified that he never engaged with White to have him commit murder. 6RP 1104. When White approached him in jail and offered his services to get Parra-Interian's case dismissed, Parra-Interian understood that the plan was for White to get SA drugged out on cocaine and take her to a casino in Oregon so that she would not be available to testify at trial. 6RP 1104-06. When White said he was going to "take her out," Parra-Interian believed he was talking about taking SA to the casino. 6RP 1108. Parra-Interian admitted he was soliciting and conspiring to commit witness tampering, but he never intended to have SA killed. 6RP 1112-13.

C. ARGUMENT

1. UNMITIGATED PREJUDICE ARISING FROM CONSOLIDATION OF THE CHARGES DENIED PARRA-INTERIAN A FAIR TRIAL.

Parra-Interian was charged with second degree rape and burglary in June 2010 and with solicitation and conspiracy to commit murder in December 2011. Before either case proceeded to trial, the State moved to consolidate them under CrR 4.3 and CrR 4.3.1, arguing that the offenses could have been joined in the same information because they were parts of a single scheme or plan. CP (10-1-00557-6) 22, 34-35; 1RP 12-14.

Parra-Interian had different attorneys in each case. James Morgan represented him on the rape and burglary charges, while Edward DeBray represented him on the conspiracy and solicitation charges. Both attorneys filed motions for severance under CrR 4.4. CP (10-1-00557-6) 23-33; CP (11-1-01263-5) 3-4. At a pretrial hearing, Morgan objected to joining the cases for trial and argued that severance was necessary to protect Parra-Interian's right to a fair trial. First, he noted that the two cases were not based on the same conduct, as the actions charged in the first case occurred a year and a half before the actions in the second. 1RP 15-16. Next, counsel argued that Parra-Interian would be prejudiced by consolidation, because there was a gross disparity in the strength of the State's evidence in the two cases. 1RP 19. DeBray concurred in the objection, arguing that a full account of the burglary and rape would not be admissible in a separate trial on the conspiracy and solicitation charges. 1RP 21.

The court agreed that the two sets of charges were not of the same or similar character, but it found they were connected together and constituted a single plan or scheme. 1RP 25. It agreed with the defense that the evidence of the two cases was not cross-admissible, and with the State that judicial economy was an important concern. 1RP 25. Considering the probable cause statements, the court determined that there

was not a great disparity in the strength of the State's evidence as to the separate charges, and it noted that the defenses were distinct and relatively clear. It granted the State's motion to consolidate the charges for trial. 1RP 26. Both defense attorneys renewed the objection to consolidation prior to trial. 1RP 56.

Following White's testimony, Morgan moved for a mistrial on the rape and burglary charges and renewed the motion for severance. 4(B)RP 878. Counsel argued that when White testified that Parra-Interian said he should shoot SA's child too, the jurors were visibly angered and upset, glaring at Parra-Interian. Having heard that testimony, they were clearly prepared to convict Parra-Interian of anything they could, and there was no way he could get a fair trial on the rape and burglary charges. No matter how many instructions they were given, they would not be able to compartmentalize the evidence. 4(B)RP 878-79.

The court denied the motion. It stated that it is not unusual for jurors to express emotion to certain evidence, but those emotions fade over time. The court noted that the jury would be instructed to look at the charges individually, and juries are presumed to follow the court's instructions. 4(B)RP 887-88.

Morgan renewed the motions for severance and a mistrial at the close of the State's case and again after Parra-Interian testified. 5RP

1000; 7(A)RP 1181. The court again denied the motions. 5RP 1001; 7(A)RP 1186.

Severance of offenses properly joined for trial is required where it is necessary to promote a fair determination of guilt or innocence. The court's failure to sever offenses is reversible for a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d 713, 717, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). While Washington has a liberal joinder rule, "joinder must not be utilized in such a way as to prejudice a defendant." State v. Harris, 36 Wn. App. 746, 749-50, 677 P.2d 202 (1984)(citing State v. Smith, 74 Wn.2d 744, 466 P.2d 571 (1958), vacated in part, 408 U.S. 934 (1972)). Washington courts have recognized that joinder of offenses is "inherently prejudicial." State v. Ramirez, 46 Wn. App. 223, 226, 730 P.2d 98 (1986).

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