NO. 43432-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

JUAN CARLOS PARRA-INTERIAN,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

LACEY L. SKALISKY W.S.B.A #41295 Deputy Prosecutor for Respondent

Hall of Justice 312 SW First Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State concurs with Parra-Interian's rendition of the Statement of the Case with the following exceptions and additions:

S.A. was asleep after intercourse with her fiancée, but later was partially awakened by someone touching her inner thighs and digitally penetrating her vagina, the force of which increased as time passed. 2A RP 236-41. The person eventually attempted penetration with his penis and masturbated himself. 2A RP 244. S.A. fully awakened when the person tried to tear off her birth control patch. 2A RP 244-45. She looked and saw the person crouched at the foot of her bed. 2A RP 246. The squatting person flees the room as S.A. tries to wake up Christopher McGowan, her fiancée, who was sleeping next to her. 2A RP 246. Once she woke up McGowan she told him she thought his brother, Andrew, raped her as she believed he was the only other male in the house besides her infant son. 2A RP 247, 3A RP 422-23. McGowan opened the bedroom door and is shocked to find Parra-Interian in the hallway. 3A RP 423-25. Parra-Interian then blurts out he saw [Andrew] do it. 3A RP 425. McGowan wakes up Andrew, but it is difficult. 3A RP 427. McGowan is confused so he returns to speak with S.A. 3A RP 427. S.A. tells McGowan to smell the hands of the people present in the house as the

smell of sex would still be present on whoever had contact with her. 2A RP 248. McGowan returns to his brother, smells his hands and smells nothing. 3A RP 428-29. McGowan then turns to ask Parra-Interian if he can smell his hands, however he had already gone outside. 3A RP 430. McGowan asks Parra-Interian why he will not let him smell his hands. 3A RP 430. Parra-Interian says he needs to go and eventually leaves. 3A RP 430-32. During McGowan's interactions with Parra-Interian they never had any physical contact. 3A RP 431. Parra-Interian is then found and interviewed at the Kelso Police Station, where a birth control patch is eventually discovered inside the interview room where Parra-Interian was questioned. 3A RP 489. The found patch was tested and contained DNA from both S.A. and Parra-Interian. 3B RP 569. Additionally, biological material from McGowan was recovered from Parra-Interian's hands. 3B RP 578.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SEVER THE COUNTS FOR TRIAL.

A trial court's decision regarding severance of offenses will be reversed only upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Watkins*, 53 Wn.App. 264, 766 P.2d 484 (1989); *State v. Brythow*, 114 Wn.2d 713, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). To determine whether severance is necessary, the courts look to four factors: (1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; (2) the clarity of the defenses as to each count; (3) whether the trial court properly instructed the jury to consider each count separately; and (4) the cross-admissibility of the evidence. *Watkins*, 53 Wn.App. at 269, 766 P.2d 484.¹

Charges are properly joined for trial where they are based on the same conduct or on a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan. CrR 4.3(a)(2). Thus, the defendant bears the burden of demonstrating that a joint trial would be so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the concern of judicial economy. *State v. Thompson*, 74 Wn.2d 774, 775, 446 P.2d 571 (1968); *Brythow*, 114 Wn.2d at 718. The courts have noted that this burden is difficult to meet. *State v. Alsup*, 75 Wn.App. 128, 131, 876 P.2d 935 (1994), *citing State v. Grisby*, 97 Wn.2d 493, 647 P.2d 6 (1982). As the following cases illustrate, the "heavy burden" described by the courts is rarely met by the defense, though complaints regarding joinder are commonplace.

In State v. Price, 127 Wn.App. 193, 110 P.3d 1171 (2005), this Court held counsel was not ineffective for failing to renew a pre-trial

¹ However, the lack of cross-admissibility does not require severance as a matter of law. See *State v. Kalakosky*, 121 Wn.2d 525, 825 P.2d 1064 (1993).

motion to sever charges involving two different victims separated by almost ten years. There, the defendant was charged with molesting one child in 2001 and another in 1992. *Price*, 127 Wn.App. at 197. This Court found severance was inappropriate as the jury was instructed to consider each count separately, and because the evidence was cross-admissible to rebut a claim of accident or mistake. Id. 204-205.

Similarly, in *State v. Standifer*, 48 Wn.App. 121, 737 P.2d 1308 (1987), the defendant was charged with raping three different women in separate incidents. Trial counsel moved to sever the charges prior to trial, but did not renew the motion, thus barring appellate counsel from raising the issue. This Court found the failure to renew the motion was not ineffective, as the jury was instructed to consider each count separately per WPIC 3.01. *Standifer*, 48 Wn.App. at 126-127.

Even in cases where defense counsel renewed the motion, and the issue was preserved for appeal, appellate courts are loath to find an abuse of discretion on this issue. Indeed, severance was held to be inappropriate where the defendant was charged with raping five different women in five distinct incidents. *State v. Kalakosky*, 121 Wn.2d 525, 537, 825 P.2d 1064 (1993). Also, in *Brythow*, the court found severance was not required where the defendant was charged with two different robberies, not part of a common *modus operandi*, over the course of a month. 114 Wn.2d 713.

Again in *State v. Markle*, 118 Wn.2d 424, 823 P.2d 1101 (1992), the court held severance was not required in a case where two separate minor victims accused the defendant of various sex crimes.

Furthermore, in *State v. Easterbrook*, 58 Wn.App. 805, 795 P.2d 151 (1990), the court once more found severance was not appropriate where the defendant was charged with the burglary and rape of one woman and another separate burglary with sexual connotations that occurred a month later and involved a different victim. Yet again, in *State v. Robinson*, 38 Wn.App. 871, 691 P.2d 213 (1984), the court held severance inappropriate where the defendant was charged with shooting his wife's nephew and then murdering her lawyer five days later, noting that the events were "inextricably intertwined."

A review of the factors to determine whether or not severance needed to occur demonstrates that the trial court's decision to join and then not to sever the counts was a proper exercise of its discretion.

First, the evidence for each case is strong. In the 2010 rape and burglary case, S.A. testified she went to sleep after intercourse with her fiancée, but later was partially awakened by someone touching her inner thighs and digitally penetrating her vagina, the force of which increased as time passed. 2A RP 236-41. She also indicated the person eventually attempted penetration with his penis and masturbated himself. 2A RP

244. She then stated she was fully awakened and alert when someone tried to tear off her birth control patch. 2A RP 244-45. She looked and saw someone crouched at the foot of her bed. 2A RP 246. The squatting person flees the room as S.A. tries to wake up Christopher McGowan, her fiancée, who was sleeping next to her. 2A RP 246. Once she woke up McGowan she told him she thought his brother, Andrew, raped her she thought as he was the only other male in the house besides her infant son. 2A RP 247, 3A RP 422-23. McGowan opens the bedroom door and is shocked to find Parra-Interian in the hallway. 3A RP 423-25. Parra-Interian then blurts out he saw [Andrew] do it. 3A RP 425. McGowan wakes up Andrew, but it is difficult. 3A RP 427. McGowan is confused so he returns to S.A. 3A RP 427. S.A. tells McGowan to smell the hands of the people present in the house as the smell of sex would still be present on whoever had contact with her. 2A RP 248. McGowan returns to his brother, smells his hands and smells nothing. 3A RP 428-29. McGowan then turns to ask Parra-Interian if he can smell his hands, however he had already gone outside. 3A RP 430. McGowan asks Parra-Interian why he will not let him smell his hands. 3A RP 430. Parra-Interian says he needs to go and eventually leaves. 3A RP 430-32. During McGowan's interactions with Parra-Interian they never had any physical contact. 3A RP 431. Parra-Interian is then found and interviewed at the Kelso Police

Station, where a birth control patch is eventually discovered inside the interview room where Parra-Interian was questioned. 3A RP 489. The found patch wass tested and contained DNA from both S.A. and Parra-Interian. 3B RP 569. Additionally, biological material from McGowan, S.A.'s fiancée, was recovered from Parra-Interian's hands. 3B RP 578.

In the 2011 solicitation to commit murder case, the body-wire recordings provided clear evidence that Parra-Interian solicited Ronald White to "take out" S.A., thus preventing her from testifying. 5 RP 939-941. Furthermore, during his testimony Parra-Interian admits to wanting S.A. absent from the trial for the rape and burglary charges. 6 RP 1104-06.

Defense counsel argues the rape and burglary case is weak because S.A. cannot identify her assailant and the solicitation case strong because of the body wire. Defense counsel's argument ignores the plethora of circumstantial evidence indicating Parra-Interrian was wrongfully in the home and sexually assaulted S.A. Because each separate case was strong, there was no danger of unfair prejudice by the weaker case being significantly bolstered by the stronger case.

Second, Parra-Interian's defenses were clear. He denied committing the charges from 2010 as well as denied committing the charge in 2011. "The likelihood that joinder will cause a jury to be

confused as to the accused's defense is very small where the defense is identical on each charge." *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 64, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (citing *State v. Hernandez*, 58 Wn.App. 793, 799, 794 P.2d 1327 (1990)).

During direct examination Parra-Interian responds "No" when asked if he ever engaged with Ronald White to commit murder. 6 RP 1104. His counsel later on asks him again if he ever said anything to Ms. Ayala about a murder plot which he denied as well. 6 RP 1107. On crossexamination of Parra-Interian, he continues to deny that he wanted to kill S.A. 6 RP 1112. This does not create a conflict or confuse the jury as both defenses were denial. Parra-Interian admitting to a crime he was not charged with does not negate his denial of the crime he was charged with, it bolsters the denial. Thus, the defense in both cases was denial which is unlikely to cause the jurys to be confused between the charges.

Third, the court gave the proper instruction to consider each charge separately. Jury Instruction No. 3 states:

A separate crime is charged in each count. You must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count.

CP 122. Parra-Interian agrees that this instruction has been approved as generally favoring joinder. App's Br. 21. As the jury was instructed to

consider each count separate from each other, this factor weighs in favor of joining the counts and denying the motion to sever.

Fourth, the court factors in whether or not the evidence of each count would be cross admissible. This is not a strict ER 404(b) analysis as there are other considerations for judicial economy taken into account. *Bythrow*, 114 Wn.2d at 722, 790 P.2d 154. Here, the trial court recognized certain facts and circumstances from each case would be admissible in the other as well as the nature of the charges. 1 RP 25. This again favors the joining of the cases for trial.

Parra-Interian is required to demonstrate the prejudicial effects of joinder existed and that the joint trial was so prejudicial it outweighed the concern for judicial economy. He points to the outrage of the jury when hearing details of the solicitation charge, however, the defense attorney's characterization of the jury's outrage does not specifically show prejudice. Jurors often hear testimony that provokes an emotional response, but they are expected to not let their emotional response control their ultimate decision. Additionally, each of the factors the court considers weighs in favor of joining the cases for trial and preserving judicial economy. Both cases were strong without the other, both defenses were denial, the court properly instructed the jury to consider each charge separately and some evidence from each case would have been cross-admissible. Parra-

Interian did not demonstrate sufficient prejudicial effects to outweigh the concern for judicial economy. Based on this the trial court did not abuse it's discretion in joining the cases for trial.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ENTERED THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AS THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF RAPE IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

The standard of review for a claim of insufficient evidence is after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, whether "any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Zamora, 63 Wn.App. 220, 223, 817 P.2d 880 (1991). Additionally, the Court should afford the State all reasonable inferences. State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004); State v. Saunders, 132 Wn.App. 592, 600, 132 P.3d 743 (2006). In such review, "circumstantial evidence is no less reliable than direct evidence [and] specific criminal intent may be inferred from circumstances as a matter of logical probability." Id. Lastly, the reviewing court defers to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. See Price, 127 Wn.App. at 202, 110 P.3d 1171; State v. Walton, 64 Wn.App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d. 533 (1992); State v. Camarillo, 115

Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990) (appellate court will not review credibility determinations).

At specific issue in the present case is RCW 9A.44.050(1)(b) which states in pertinent part, "[a] person is guilty of rape in the second degree when, under circumstances not constituting rape in the first degree, the person engages in sexual intercourse with another person...when the victim is incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated." "Sexual intercourse" is defined as having

its ordinary meaning and occurs upon any penetration, however slight, and...means any penetration of the vagina or anus however slight, by an object, when committed on one person by another, whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex, except when such penetration is accomplished for medically recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes, and... [a]lso means any act of sexual contact between persons involving the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of another whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex.

RCW 9A.44.010(1). The statute further defines "sexual contact" to mean "any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party or a third party." RCW 9A.44.010(2). A person who is "physically helpless" is one "who is unconscious or for any other reason is physically unable to communicate unwillingness to an act." RCW 9A.44.010(5). It has been held that "[t]he state of sleep appears to be universally understood as unconsciousness or physical inability to communicate unwillingness." State v. Puapuaga, 54

Wn.App. 857, 861, 776 P.2d 170 (1989).

At trial, S.A. testified during direct examination as follows:

Q....Now, after you fell asleep, ma'am, did there come a point when you felt something in your sleep?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you describe that?

A. I felt somebody touching my inner thighs and my pelvic area.

Q. Now, when you first felt the touching, what was your, I guess, level of consciousness?

A. I wasn't all the way awake at all.

Q. Okay. How – maybe, if ten is all the way awake, and one is completely asleep, where would you be in there?

A. Probably a four.

Q. What did [the touching] feel like, at first?

A. At first, it just felt like they were running their fingers up my leg and touching my pelvic area.

Q. ... [W]hen you say pelvic area, are you referring to a particular part of your body?

A. My vagina.

Q. Okay. Was the touching inside or outside your body at that point?

A. At that point, a little bit of both.

2A Report of Proceedings 240-241. As S.A.'s testimony continues she indicates the penetration by the assailant's fingers became more forceful as time passed. 2A RP 241-242. S.A. states that she was probably mostly asleep, but more alert as it went on. 2A RP 242. Eventually, she realizes it is not McGowan, her significant other, when her birth control patch is removed, she sees a person squatting at the foot of the bed and has to wake McGowan up from a sound sleep. 2A RP 245-246.

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